
In 1868 Lawrence Gardner  at the age of 28 established a business as a machinist. This started
in the cellar of a normal house in Upper Duke Street, Manchester. Getting the 10 ½” centre
lathe and an 8 ft boiler into the cellar required a little ingenuity. The history books record that
it was done using pulley blocks and planks hanging out of a bedroom window. There was little
Health and Safety in those days!  By the time he established the business,Laurence had a family
consisting of six sons and two daughters. Although the business started off machining other
people castings, it quickly developed into a general engineering concern, manufacturing
machines to do a variety of jobs, a machine to score cardboard, another to cut dovetails in it
and another to hammer them into place. Even an early coffee roaster, “no brought in parts”
master gears were cut and finished by hand to serve as patterns for casting replica parts.

After some early difficulties the business grew, with twelve employees as well as the family
members who were learning their trade. There was more work than could be managed by the
existing workforce and with the need to expand, a move was made to Cornbrook Park Road,
not far from the original premises.

At the relatively early age of 50, Lawrence Gardner passed away leaving the business to his
wife. His son Thomas Harry Gardner, who had not always seen eye to eye with father returned
to the firm. Thomas and his brother Edward  had received an education that was not available
to their father, having attended the prestigious Manchester Victoria University as recipients
of scholarships established by Sir Joseph Whitworth.

The firm continued to prosper and another move was made a larger premises in Lund Street, where they now employed 80 people.
With this move they were able to handle larger items, dynamos up to 3 tons in weight, dentists chairs with their own modifications. It
is know that 106 were made in the first 3 years and that in 1968, when Gardner’s were celebrating their centenary, there were still two
in use in the Manchester area.

Ten years after the death of their father, the company changed name from “L Gardner Machinist” to “L Gardner and Sons Ltd”. One
would like to think that it was a tribute to their father.

In 1891 details of the A.E & H Robinson hot air engine
were published in the Illustrated Magazine of Practice
and Theory. Gardner's arranged to manufacture this
engine, which was the start of their foray into engine
building.

This arrangement continued until 1894. In the meantime
they were developing their own engines, By 1893
Gardner's had built and sold a Gas powered unit at a price

of £12.10s
which was
profitable.

In 1894 the first Oil Engine was produced using paraffin oil. This was fed into a
vaporiser, then drawn into the combustion chamber with a mixture of air before being
detonated by a hot tube, in a similar manner to the hot tube gas engines. It had the
benefit of portability, not being tied to the need for a piped town gas supply.

By 1898 production was once again outgrowing the space available and new premises
were needed. Previous moves had all been a short distance from the original workshop
in Upper Duke Street. This next move proved to be inspired. The decision to purchase
3 acres of land, which was part  of the Old Barton Hall Estate, gave the company the
scope to grow without the need to move again in its lifetime. Workshops were built over
a half acre of the land and the Barton Hall Engine Works was born.

As none of the brothers was sales orientated, the need for a sales agent had become
evident. One of the agents selected was Norris and Henty of London,  they were to
become the principal sales arm for Gardner products.
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The Works in its Heyday



The First Engines

It was with these engines that the “Gardner” series first commenced, and they are now as popular
as ever, The utility of the horizontal gas and oil engines is too obvious to need enumeration,
but as they are built for heavy commercial duties and long continuous runs, it may not be out
of place to indicate their suitability for electric lighting,driving compressors,and also for high
pressure gas systems

In connection with the latter there are hundreds of the small gas engines in constant use at such
important installations as Buckingham Palace, several of the London and Thames Bridges, at
large public Intuitions, Railway Stations,etc Economy of Fuel, perfect lubrication,and sensitive
governing, enables these engines to respond to varying load requirements with a minimum
fluctuation. The governor is inertia type, and of sensitive construction ,capable of hand
adjustment to the greatest nicety,and is undoubtedly one of the simplest and most efficient of
its class ever produced



“V” Type  Available in Oil, Gas & Spirit Versions Manufactured between 1903 and 1935



“M” Type  Available in Oil, Petrol and Gas Versions Manufactured between 1902 and 1933
Available as Marine with gearboxes or Stationary versions coupled to a variety of accessories



“BCR & DCR” Type manufactured between 1910 & 1936

The “H” Series Cold Start Horizontals, manufactured between 1910 and 1942



“VT” Type manufactured between 1913 & 1938.
The “VT” range was initially only single cylinder models sized between 3.5bhp and 35 bhp
The range was increased to incorporate a 2 cyl range designated 2/4VT, 2/5VT and 2/6VT



“VT & T” Type manufactured between 1913 & 1938.



“J” Type manufactured between 1928 & 1940.



“L2” Type manufactured between 1930 & 1951.



The “L2” series engine was to kick start a revolution in road transport propulsion and enhance the reputation of Gardner's
engineering excellence.

The following pages from the Gardners of Patricroft 1868-1968 Centenary Book by David Whitehead give some insight into the
developments of that era.



The “LW” series manufactured between 1931 and 1974

8LW on display at the Anson Engine Museum

S Gray



The “LK”  manufactured between 1935 and 1966
Available in Marine and Automotive versions

The LK prototype was this 6 cyl version, in later years it was used
for testing modified parts and is seen here on the test bed in 1954.

Photo courtesy of the Anson Engine Museum

The 6LK on display at the Anson Engine Museum
Gardner 150th Exhibition 2018



The “L3”  manufactured between 1932 and 1961
The “L3B” manufactured between 1960 and 1984

A 3L3 on display at the Anson Engine Museum

S Gray



Product Leaflet Circa 1964



The “LX”  manufactured between 1958 and 1966    The “LXB” manufactured between 1966 and 1978
The “LXC” was introduced in1978. The “LXCT” was introduced in 1981



The “LXDT” introduced in 1984











Engine Production Dates & Acknowledgments

Engine date information courtesy of the Anson Engine Museum.

The information in this display is only intended to show the range of engines
produced by the Gardner's and a short history.

The Small Horizontal Gas and Paraffin Engines and BCR pages courtesy of the
Anson Engine Museum.

All other catalogue or brochure pages from the personal collection held by S
Gray.
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